2003 - CA - 20224

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-00224

SALVADOR ARCEO, M.D. and ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

VS.

MYRTIS TOLLIVER, AS ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF TOMMIE C. TOLLIVER, DECEASED, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF TOMMIE C. TOLLIVER, DECEASED

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT, SALVADOR ARCEO, M.D.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Should the Circuit Court have dismissed this action *with* prejudice due to Plaintiff's repeated failures to comply with Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15)?
- 2. Did the Circuit Court err in applying a "substantial compliance" standard to the content requirements for pre-suit notice contained in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15), when the only issue was non-compliance?
- 3. Has the statute of limitations run on Plaintiff's claim?
- 4. Does the "Savings Statute," Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-69, apply to Plaintiff's claims and the dismissal of *Tolliver I*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This medical malpractice wrongful death action arose from the care and treatment Plaintiff's daughter, Tommie Tolliver, received at St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital ("St. Dominic") during July 9-13, 2002. The issues on appeal relate to Plaintiff's multiple failures to comply with the notice requirements of section 15-1-36(15) of the Mississippi Code; the standards applicable to the interpretation and application of those requirements; the application of the statute of limitations; and the applicability, if any, of the "savings statute," section 15-1-69 of the Mississippi Code.

COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Plaintiff filed her original lawsuit ("*Tolliver I*") against St. Dominic and Dr. Arceo on June 4, 2004. Defendants moved to dismiss based on Plaintiff's failure to send the pre-suit notice required by section 15-1-36(15). The circuit court denied that motion. On interlocutory appeal, this Court reversed the circuit court and rendered judgment in favor of Defendants, dismissing Plaintiff's original lawsuit, without prejudice. The mandate issued on March 15, 2007.

Plaintiff filed the present action on May 9, 2007. Defendants again moved to dismiss for failure to give adequate pre-suit notice and the expiration of the statute of limitations. After a hearing on November 30, 2007, Judge DeLaughter entered a written order on January 10, 2008 dismissing this action, without prejudice. Judge DeLaughter ruled that Plaintiff had again failed to comply with the pre-suit notice requirements, which required dismissal, but the statute of limitations had not run. Taking issue with Judge DeLaughter's decision not to dismiss this action with prejudice, Defendants timely perfected this appeal on January 30, 2008.

FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES ON APPEAL

Dr. Arceo examined Ms. Tolliver in St. Dominic's emergency room on July 9, 2002. (R. 8) Ms. Tolliver was admitted to the hospital and remained there until she passed away on July 13, 2002 from cardiac arrest secondary to meningococcal meningitis. (R. 8-10) Beyond these basics, the specific details of the circumstances and merits *vel non* of the Plaintiff's professional negligence claims against Dr. Arceo and St. Dominic are not at issue at the present time. Instead, this appeal turns on the procedural facts and circumstances surrounding Plaintiff's repeated failures to comply with the sixty day notice requirements of section 15-1-36(15).

The Original Lawsuit, "Tolliver I"

This matter now comes before this Court for the second time on appeal. Prior to filing her original complaint on June 4, 2004, Plaintiff did not give any notice of her intent to sue as required by section 15-1-36(15). *Arceo v. Tolliver*, 949 So. 2d 691, 697-98 (Miss. 2006) (hereinafter "Tolliver I"). However, despite Plaintiff's complete non-compliance with the statutory notice requirements, the circuit court declined to dismiss the original action. *Tolliver I*, 949 So. 2d at 693.

After accepting an interlocutory appeal in *Tolliver I*, this Court reversed the circuit court

and rendered judgment in favor of defendants, dismissing Plaintiff's original lawsuit without prejudice. *Tolliver I*, 949 So. 2d at 697-98. However, in the first appeal, this Court reached only the issue of whether dismissal was required for non-compliance with section 15-1-36(15), and expressly declined to address the other issues raised by Dr. Arceo and St. Dominic on appeal, stating "Because of our disposition of the statutory notice issue consistent with our recent decision in *Pitalo*, the remaining issues raised by the parties need not be addressed." *Tolliver I*, 949 So. 2d at 697. Now this matter has been refiled and worked its way back through the court system, and the issues which were not addressed in *Tolliver I*, including the statute of limitations and the applicability of the so-called Savings Statute, section 15-1-69 of the Mississippi Code, are now fully ripe for consideration by the Court.

The Current Lawsuit

The supreme court clerk issued the mandate dismissing the original action without prejudice on March 15, 2007. (R. 8) Prior to the issuance of the mandate, the Plaintiff sent Dr. Arceo and St. Dominic letters, dated February 28, 2007, which were less than expansive in content:

This letter is being sent pursuant to Section 15-1-36 (15) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. This letter is to inform you of our intention to file suit on behalf of Tommie Tolliver. The basis of the suit is negligence.

(R. 101-02) Some fifty-five days after the clerk issued the mandate, on May 9, 2007 Plaintiff filed the instant lawsuit. (R. 4)

Dr. Arceo and St. Dominic again moved for summary judgment and/or dismissal, asking the circuit court to dismiss this new lawsuit with prejudice because of, inter alia, Plaintiff's multiple failures to give adequate notice and/or the running of the statute of limitations. (R. 54-65, 115-36)

At a hearing on November 30, 2007, after hearing oral argument, the circuit court dismissed the instant lawsuit because the February 28, 2007 letter sent by Plaintiff did not substantially comply with the content requirements for such notice contained in 15-1-36(15). (Tr. 23-25) In the written order of dismissal, Judge DeLaughter adopted his bench ruling without elaboration, stating "the Court . . . hereby rules consistent with the comments and rulings of the Court from the bench at the motion hearing that the Motion to Dismiss is granted and this case should be, and hereby is, dismissed *without* prejudice." (R. 24)² At the hearing on Defendants' motions, the circuit court reasoned as follows:

My recollection of the case law interpreting the applicable statutes here prior to the Supreme Court's decision in Easterling was that the Court and (sic) medical malpractice cases was affording the same interpretation that it was then affording concerning claims under the state Tort Claims Act, and that was substantial compliance and one of the factors to be considered was what prejudice would result from any particular ruling that was made on a motion to dismiss. And as is their prerogative in the Easterling case – Easterling v. The University of Mississippi Medical Center – the Court for the first time said that the statute's been on the books long enough that all the lawyers should know what it requires, and we're going to require strict compliance as to the requirement of the notice being filed at least 60 days prior to the filing of the lawsuit.

And in this case, the lawsuit was filed prior to the Easterling decision. All that is to say this: I'm of the opinion that the lawsuit in this case under the applicable law at the time that it was initially filed was duly filed. The Court also finds that the defect ultimately found in the case by the Supreme Court was as a matter of form. This, in this Court's opinion, is evidenced by the fact that the Supreme Court's order of dismissal was one without prejudice.

As to the refiling of the lawsuit, we're not dealing with an issue of whether notice was filed or whether notice was filed at least 60 days prior to the filing of the lawsuit. We're dealing here with the substance of what's contained in the notice.

Now, my understanding of the current case law is that unlike the requirement of a notice being given and that notice being given within a specified period of time by statute, that the Supreme Court is still applying a substantial compliance

²The circuit court's bench ruling may be found on pp. 23-25 of the hearing transcript, and for convenience these pages are separately reproduced in the Record Excerpts at Tab 14.

standard to what is contained in the notice.

However, in this instance the Court is of the opinion, number one, that a second notice was required. The Court interprets the statute to refer to the notice being required prior to the filing or any filing. It's not limited to the first filing. And if the Supreme Court is going to apply a strict compliance standard, then this Court is of the opinion that second notice was indeed required, however, that notice was not in substantial compliance with the requirements of the statute.

And the Court is of the opinion that the statute of limitations had been, along with the savings statute – the statute of limitations has not run, therefore, the motion to dismiss by St. Dominic Hospital and Dr. Arceo will be granted. The case is dismissed concerning both of those defendants but without prejudice.

(Tr. 23-25)

Dr. Arceo and St. Dominic took issue with the circuit court's conclusion that this action should not be dismissed *with* prejudice, and timely perfected this appeal. (R. 15, 19)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff has failed to comply with the minimal notice requirements contained in section 15-1-36(15) for the second time. The repeated violations of statutory notice requirements warrant dismissal of the present action, with prejudice. Before filing her original complaint in *Tolliver I*, the Plaintiff gave no notice at all. This first violation of the statute mandated dismissal, but Plaintiff was given the chance to fix her mistake and refile.

Despite the dismissal of her first lawsuit for failure to give any pre-suit notice, instead of exercising extra diligence before attempting to refile her lawsuit, Plaintiff made only a halfhearted attempt at giving notice, sending a letter which failed to include information expressly required by 15-1-36(15), specifically, the type of loss sustained and specific nature of the injuries suffered. As the circuit court recognized, previous decisions of this Court leave no room for doubt that Plaintiff's violation of the requirements of 15-1-36(15) required dismissal for the second time. (Tr. 23-25) However, the circuit court's ruling raised questions regarding

the correct standard for determining compliance with the content requirements of section 15-1-36(15) and the consequences for Plaintiff's multiple failures to comply, including the applicability, if any, of the statute of limitations and the savings statute. With respect, the circuit court erred in several particulars.

The circuit court erred first by applying a "substantial compliance" standard in determining whether the content of the notice letter conformed to the statutory requirements. Because Plaintiff left out an entire category of information required by 15-1-36(15), the issue was simply compliance or non-compliance. See, e.g., South Central Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. Guffy, 930 So. 2d 1252, 1258 (Miss. 2006) ("the failure to provide any of the . . . statutorily required categories of information falls short of the statutory requirement and amounts to non-compliance"). "Substantial compliance" only becomes an issue at all when some information in each of the required statutory categories is included and a court must determine whether the included information was "substantial" enough to constitute compliance. Guffy, 930 So. 2d at 1258. In this case, an entire category of information was omitted from the notice letter, so the issue was simply Plaintiff's non-compliance. The circuit court reached the right conclusion, even though the court applied the incorrect standard. Guidance from this Court, clarifying that the principles announced in Guffy concerning the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA") also apply fully to cases involving section 15-1-36(15), would be helpful to both the bench and bar.

The circuit court also erred in concluding that the dismissal of Plaintiff's case for the second time should be made "without prejudice," thus giving the Plaintiff a potential third bite at the apple. This Court held in *Tolliver I* that dismissal without prejudice was the appropriate consequence of the Plaintiff's first violation of the notice requirements. However, the Plaintiff's second failure to comply with the sixty day notice requirements occurred despite being fully

aware that such a failure would undoubtedly require dismissal yet again. The second violation was not a minor omission based on lack of knowledge of the requirements, and as such, a sterner consequence is warranted: final dismissal *with* prejudice.

This appeal also requires consideration of two separate, yet closely related issues concerning the statute of limitations: (1) whether filing the original complaint without giving any notice whatsoever tolled the statute of limitations; and (2) whether a party who does not comply with the statutory notice requirements is entitled to claim the benefit of the sixty day extension provided in 15-1-36(15) to those who comply.

In *Tolliver I*, Plaintiff violated the statutory requirements by filing her original complaint without giving any notice whatsoever. As such the original filing was defective and insufficient to toll the two year statute of limitations provided in 15-1-36(2). If the statute was not tolled, then the limitations period expired on July 13, 2004, two years after the Plaintiff's daughter passed away on July 13, 2002.

In the instant case, Plaintiff is not entitled to receive the sixty day extension provided in section 15-1-36(15). Allowing a party who fails to comply with either the timing or content requirements for pre-suit notice to claim the benefit of the sixty day extension is not justified by the plain language of the statute. The pertinent portion of section 15-1-36(15) reads as follows: "[i]f the notice is served within sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the time for the commencement of the action shall be extended sixty (60) days from the service of the notice" A defective notice letter such as that sent by Plaintiff, which did not contain the information expressly required by the statute, should not be held sufficient to trigger the sixty day extension.

At the time Plaintiff filed her original complaint in Tolliver I, at most thirty-nine days

remained on the statute of limitations. Assuming the original complaint tolled the statute of limitations (a point disputed by Dr. Arceo and St. Dominic) when the supreme court clerk issued the mandate dismissing *Tolliver I* on March 15, 2007, Plaintiff had thirty-nine days to refile her lawsuit, which meant that the limitations period would expire on April 23, 2007. However, Plaintiff waited some fifty-nine days and did not file her new action until May 9, 2007, sixteen days after the statute of limitations expired. Unless the grossly deficient letter Plaintiff sent is held sufficient to trigger the sixty-day extension, then the statute of limitations expired before Plaintiff refiled her lawsuit.

As a last resort, the Plaintiff relies on the "savings statute," section 15-1-69 of the Mississippi Code, but this provision does not offer her any relief. By its terms the savings statute applies only to actions which are "duly commenced within the time allowed..." Section 15-1-36(15) states that "[n]o action based upon the health care provider's professional negligence *may be begun* unless the defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of the intention to begin the action." (emphasis added). If an action cannot be "begun" until sixty days notice has been given, that action cannot be considered to be "duly commenced within the time allowed." The original complaint filed by the Plaintiff was premature and should be held a nullity, of no legal force or effect.

Additionally, a dismissal for failure to comply with the pre-suit notice requirements of 15-1-36(15) should not be treated as dismissal as "a matter of form." This Court has not yet addressed this issue, but if the savings statute is held to apply to such a dismissal, then the presuit notice requirements will be rendered meaningless, as this case would potentially demonstrate. The Court should take the same approach here as taken in *Owens v. Mai*, which held that the Savings Statute did not apply to a dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction based

on failure to serve process, because the dismissal was not "for a matter of form." The Court should similarly hold that section 15-1-69 is inapplicable to the dismissal of a complaint for non-compliance with the notice requirements of section 15-1-36(15).

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court applies a *de novo* standard of review to all questions of law, including summary judgments and motions to dismiss. *University of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Easterling*, 928 So. 2d 815, 817 (Miss. 2006), *cert denied* 127 S. Ct. 549; *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So. 2d 373, 375 (Miss. 2000). Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure allows a party against whom a claim is asserted to move for summary judgment at any time, and provides that:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The burden of persuasion rests on the moving party to show that no genuine issue of material fact exists, although the benefit of reasonable doubt is given to the non-moving party. See, e.g., Citifinancial Retail Servs. v. Hooks, 972 So. 2d 775, 779 (Miss. 2006). The court must view the facts in the light most favorable to non-moving party. See, e.g., One South, Inc. v. Hollowell, 963 So. 2d 1156, 1160 (Miss. 2007). However, "the non-moving party cannot just sit back and remain silent, but . . . must rebut by providing significant, probative evidence showing that there are indeed genuine issues of material fact." Murphree v. Federal Ins. Co., 707 So. 2d 523, 529 (Miss. 1997). Furthermore, "the presence of fact issues does not per se entitle a person to avoid summary judgment. The court must be convinced that the factual issue is a material one, one that matters in an outcome determinative sense." Massey v. Tingle, 867 So. 2d 235, 238 (Miss. 2004) (quoting Hudson v. Courtesy Motors, Inc., 794 So. 2d 999,

1002 (Miss. 2001)).

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint. For a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim to be granted, "there must appear to a certainty that the plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of the claim." *Gulledge v. Shaw*, 880 So. 2d 288, 292 (Miss. 2004). When a trial judge considers matters outside the pleadings, the motion is treated as a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment. *Gulledge*, 880 So. 2d at 292.

THE NOTICE LETTER DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE CONTENT REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 15-1-36(15)

That Dismissal is Required is Not Genuinely In Dispute

The single most significant aspect of the circuit court's ruling is that regardless of the standard applied, the letter sent by the Plaintiff simply did not comply with the content requirements of 15-1-36(15), either strictly or substantially, and this lawsuit therefore must be dismissed for a second time. This Court has repeatedly held that a plaintiff's failure to comply with the notice provisions of section 15-1-36(15) requires dismissal. See, e.g., Pitalo v. GPCH-GP, Inc., 933 So. 2d 927, 929 (Miss. 2006) (holding failure to send pre-suit notice is an "inexcusable deviation from the Legislature's requirements" and dismissal is warranted); Nelson v. Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-N. Miss., Inc., 972 So. 2d 667, 672-73 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (holding that notice sent after the complaint was filed failed to comply with § 15-1-36(15) and dismissal was proper remedy). Therefore, whether dismissal is required is not genuinely at issue. The real issue is whether the dismissal should have been made with prejudice. In that regard, the details of Plaintiff's second failure to comply with section 15-1-36(15) are probative and show how little effort has been made to comply with the minimal statutory requirements. In addition, the Court should take the opportunity to correct the circuit court's erroneous application of the

substantial compliance standard to the content of the notice.

The Circuit Court Erred in Applying a "Substantial Compliance" Standard to the Content of the Notice

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