IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00224

SALVADOR ARCEO, M.D. and ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLANTS

APPELLEE

VS.

MYRTIS TOLLIVER, AS ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF TOMMIE C. TOLLIVER, DECEASED, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF TOMMIE C. TOLLIVER, DECEASED

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

(Oral Argument Requested)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE:

W. Eric Stracener, Esquire (MSB# 1990)
W. Andrew Neely, Esquiee (MSB# 1990)
HAWKINS, STRACENER & GIBSON, PLLC
129B South President Street
Post Office Box 24627
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4627
Telephone: (601) 969-9692
Facsimile: (601) 914-3580

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

substituted therfor.")⁸ Id at 692.

A. The principle of Equitable Tolling applies in this instance

It is bedrock Mississippi law that the filing of a complaint tolls the running of the statute of limitations. *Owens v. Mai*, 891 So. 2d 220, 223 (Miss. 2005). The filing of an action tolls the statute of limitations for the 120-day service period of Rule 4(h); if, after that time period, no process has been served, the clock resumes ticking. *Watters v. Stripling*, 675 So. 2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1996) (citing *Erby v. Cox*, 654 So. 2d 503 (Miss. 1995)).

In both *Watters* and *Erby*, this Court analyzed the principle of tolling in the context of medical malpractice claims. The law is clear that while a plaintiff's case is pending, the statute of limitations is tolled, assuming timely service of process. See *Jackson, Jeffery, Miss. Civil Procedure* § 2.13, *Chapter 2 Territorial Jurisdiction and Service of Process.* (2006). Likewise, this Court held in *Deposit Guaranty National Bank v. Roberts* that filing a suit five days before the statute of limitations would have run tolled the statutory period until the suit's dismissal, which occurred some twenty months later. 483 So. 2d 348, 352 (Miss. 1986). *See also Canadian Nat'l./Illinois Cent. Ry. Co. v. Smith*, 926 So. 2d 839, 845 (Miss. 2006); *Triple "C" Transp., Inc. v. Dickens*, 870 So. 2d 1195, 1199 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Watters*, 675 So.2d at 1244).

In *Tolliver I*, the Complaint and First Amended Complaint were timely filed and timely served. *Tolliver* 949 at 693, n.1. The dismissal did not occur until the mandate issued on March 15, 2007. (Supp. R. 8). Therefore, the statute of limitations, under the principle of tolling – notwithstanding applicability otherwise of the savings statute – would have began running again on

⁸While the original withdrawn opinion was not reported in the Southern Reporter and is no longer accessible, the fact that the original opinion dismissing *Tolliver I* was changed from one with prejudice to one without prejudice is not in dispute. Plaintiffs made this factual statement before the lower court and it was never disputed by the Defendants in their only rebuttal, that of Dr. Arceo, to the Plaintiffs' Response to the Defendants Motions for Summary Judgment, or in the alternative, to Dismiss. (R. 181-193) The factual assertion was likewise never disputed by the Defendants at the motion hearing. (Tr. 1-25)

March 16, 2007. Assuming that the February 28, 2007 Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) notice letter was necessary and that it tolled the statute for sixty (60) days pursuant to the statute, despite any alleged deficiencies, only 8 additional days had run against the statute when Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on May 9, 2007, leaving at least 31 remaining days against the statute.⁹ *Tolliver II* was, therefore, timely filed.

B. The Savings Statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-69, also applies to the present case

In addition to applicability of the principle of tolling, the saving statute, found at Miss. Code

Ann. section 15-1-69, provides a one-year time period after dismissal for timely-filed cases in which

a plaintiff may file a new action for the same claim if the original action was defeated as a matter

of form. Critically, the statute applies to causes being reversed on appeal:

If in any action, duly commenced within the time allowed, the writ shall be abated, or the action otherwise avoided or defeated, by the death of any party thereto, or for any matter of form, or if, after verdict for the plaintiff, the judgment shall be arrested, or if a judgment for the plaintiff *shall be reversed on appeal*, the plaintiff may commence a new action for the same cause, at any time within one year after the abatement or other determination of the original suit, or after reversal of the judgment therein

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-69 (emphasis added).

This Court has previously emphasized the weight and importance the saving statute carries,

noting its consistency with our state constitution in stating:

[O]ne of the designs of the statute is, with which section 147 of the Constitution is in keeping, to protect parties who have mistaken the forum in which their causes should be tried, who simply entered the temple of justice by the door on the left, when they should have entered by the door on the right.

Ryan v. Wardlaw, 382 So. 2d 1078, 1080 (Miss. 1980) (quoting Hawkins v. Scottish Union & National Ins. Co,110 Miss. 23, 69 So. 710, 713 (1915). In Ryan, an unsigned document that was

⁹Plaintiffs affirmatively re-assert herein that the discovery rule applies to this case. (R. 93, 178).

entered styled "dismissed" was later found to be error by the trial court and grounds for reinstatement of the cause on the docket. *Id.* at 1079. The defendants challenged jurisdiction on the grounds that when the initial dismissal order was placed in the court minutes on the last day of the term, the day the minutes were normally signed, the court thereafter had no jurisdiction to reinstate the cause. *Id.* The trial court agreed with this contention and executed an order removing the cause from the issue docket. *Id.* On appeal, this Court found that section 15-1-69 applied to that last order of dismissal for lack of jurisdiction. *Id.* Though the facts in *Ryan* are distinguishable somewhat, this Court focused on the fact that the statute was to be liberally interpreted in favor of allowing plaintiffs their day in court:

It [the saving statute] is a highly remedial statute and ought to be liberally construed for the accomplishment of the purpose for which it was designed, namely, to save one who has brought his suit within the time limited by law from loss of his right of action by reason of accident or inadvertence, and it would be a narrow construction of that statute to say that because, if plaintiff had, by mistake, attempted to assert his right in a court having no jurisdiction, he is not entitled to the benefit of it.

Id. (quoting Tompkins v. Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 53 W.Va. 479, 484, 44 S.E. 439, 441 (1903)).

I. "Matter of Form"

Several Mississippi cases have addressed the issue of when a case might fall under the "matter of form" clause of the saving statute. In one of the earliest cases discussing the issue, the Court declared that "[w]here the plaintiff has been defeated by some matter not affecting the merits, some defect or informality, which he can remedy or avoid by a new process, the statute shall not prevent him from doing so, provided he follows it promptly, by suit within a year." *Hawkins*, 69 So. at 713. (emphasis added, internal citations and quotation omitted). More simply, it is fundamental that a case dismissed for a non-merits based reason, like this case, falls under the protection of the saving statute.

One "matter of form" that has been repeatedly held to fall under the non-merits based exception of the saving clause is dismissal for lack of jurisdiction. *Deposit Guar. Nat'l Bank*, 483 So. 2d at 353; *Lowry v. International Broth. of Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders and Helpers of America*, 220 F.2d 546, 548 (5th Cir. 1955). Indeed, our state's case law is replete with holdings that dismissal for a lack of jurisdiction unquestionably qualifies as a "matter of form" within the statute's meaning and triggers the saving statute. *See, e.g., Canadian Nat'l/III. Cent. Ry. Co. v. Smith*, 926 So. 2d 839, 845 (Miss. 2006) (dismissal based on misjoinder and improper venue constitutes dismissal as matter of form); *Ryan*, 382 So. 2d 1078, 1079; *Hawkins*, 69 So. 710, 712 (case dismissed by trial for lack of subject matter jurisdiction); *Wertz v. Ingalls Shipbuilding, Inc.*, 790 So. 2d 841, 845 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (claims filed in federal district court were dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and eventually re-filed later in state court). The Fifth Circuit holds similarly. *See Lowry*, 220 F.2d 546 (case dismissed for lack of jurisdiction of a party defendant).

Recently, in a case altogether omitted by the Defendants in their Appellant's Brief, this Court declared that "the notice requirement of section 15-1-36(15) is mandatory and *jurisdictional.*" Saul v. Jenkins, 963 So.2d 552, 554 (Miss. 2007) (citing Arceo v. Tolliver 949 So.2d 691, 695) (emphasis added). Thus, the Court made clear, even citing to Tolliver I, that notice requirements of section 15-1-36(15) are, in fact, jurisdictional. As such, the dismissal of Tolliver I amounted to a dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Tolliver I, therefore, having now been determined by this Court to have been dismissed for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, meets the requirement of having been dismissed as "a matter of form," thus fulfilling that requirement of the savings statute.

Likewise, this Court has stated that the fact that a court does not have subject matter jurisdiction does not mean that the plaintiff did not "duly commence" his complaint. *Crawford v*.

Morris Transportation, Inc., 990 So.2d 162, 172 (Miss. 2008) ("Even though the federal court ultimately dismissed the matter [for lack of subject matter jurisdiction], Crawford's federal court complaint was nevertheless 'duly commenced' as defined under Section 15-1-69.") Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-69 (Rev. 2003); see *Hawkins*, 69 So. at 713 (1915) ("duly commenced" does not require that the action be commenced in a court having subject matter jurisdiction).

II. "Duly Commenced"

To that end, the Defendants' primary argument in their brief is that the Plaintiffs did not *duly commence* their original action – *Tolliver I* – a prerequisite to gaining the benefit of the savings statute. Appellants' Brief at 16, 17.¹⁰ Defendants' argument is simple: because section 15-1-36(15) states that "no action . . . may be begun"¹¹ without sixty (60) days notice, and because Plaintiffs failed to meet such requirement in *Tolliver I*, that the Plaintiffs' complaint in *Tolliver I* could not have been "duly commenced" to meet that requirement of the savings statute. (Appellant's Brief at 16). While the simplicity of the argument is certainly enticing, the interpretation of section 15-1-36(15) that the Defendants ask this Court to make would be constitutionally impermissible consistent with *Wimley v. Reid*, --- So.2d. ---- 20078 WL 4254587, *3 (Miss. 2008) (No. 2007-CA-00593-SCT, Sept. 18, 2008).

In *Wimley*, this Court confronted the "attorney certificate of consultation" attachment requirement of section 11-1-58 – a statute promulgated from similar legislative cloth as that of 15-1-36(15). This statute requires an attorney, in sum, to attach a certificate to a medical malpractice

¹⁰The Defendants likewise employ the same rationale to their argument that the principle of equitable tolling should not apply to the instant case. (Appellants' Brief at 13). To the extent that the Appellants employ said rationale to the principle of equitable tolling, the Plaintiffs' response and analysis herein within the savings statute framework shall apply equally to their argument that the principle of equitable tolling is applicable.

¹¹Defendants state likewise that the Plaintiff was "prohibited from filing a medical malpractice action until she gave Defendants pre-suit notice and waited sixty days." (Appellants Brief at 16).

plaintiffs' complaint certifying that the attorney had consulted with a qualified expert and believed that, after such consultation, a reasonable basis exists for filing the lawsuit. Miss. Code Ann. 11-1-58(1). Specifically, the Court was asked to decide whether failure to attach such a certificate alone, irrespective of the actual consultation requirement, requires dismissal. Wimley, at *1. Looking to the constitutional doctrine of Separation of Powers, specifically that between the judiciary and the legislative branch, the Court found that the Legislature improperly overstepped its constitutional authority by implementing a law that encroached into the judiciary's rule-making authority insofar as it is within the judiciary's authority to promulgate procedural requirements through the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure ("M.R.C.P."). Id at *3. In other words, when the Legislature mandated attachment of a certificate to a plaintiff's complaint, it required a plaintiff to file and plead his complaint in a manner that is contrary to the pleading rules set forth in Rule 8 of the M.R.C.P. A statute requiring such a direct contradiction with the M.R.C.P. stated the Court, was unconstitutionally impermissible under the Separation of Powers doctrine. Id. Critically, the Court in Wimley stated that there is a "constitutional imperative that the Legislature refrain from promulgating procedural statutes which require dismissal of a complaint, and particularly a complaint filed in full compliance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure." Id.

In the present case, though the Plaintiffs do not argue herein that the pre-suit notice requirements promulgated by the Legislature infringe upon the judiciary's procedural rule-making authority *per se*, the interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) that the Defendants urge this Court to accept would be, as in *Wimley*, unconstitutionally impermissible. To be specific, the Defendants are asking this Court to read 15-1-36(15) in such a way that 15-1-36(15) would dictate when a civil action can be considered "filed." (Appellant's Brief at 13, 16, 17). Of course, the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure dictate that the commencement of an action is accomplished

15

by the filing of a complaint. Miss. R. Civ. P. 3(a). ("A civil action is commenced with the filing of a Complaint."); see also, *Crawford v. Morris Transportation, Inc.*, 990 So.2d 162, 172 (Miss. 2008) ("A Complaint goes to the heart of whether a civil action exists."); *Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Willis*, 296 F.3d 336, 341-42 (5th Cir. 2002) (A Complaint commences a civil proceeding). Therefore, should this Court accept the interpretation that the Defendants are urging it to take, the statute would be rendered unconstitutional under the concept of Separation of Powers consistent with *Wimley*. To allow construction of the statute in the way suggested by the Defendants, the Legislature would have overstepped their constitutional authority by making a law that controls when a Complaint can be considered "filed," a matter which is squarely within the prerogative of the judiciary. Miss. R. Civ. P. 3(a).

It has long been Mississippi law that where a reasonable reading of a statute can be read in two ways, one of which is constitutional and the other of which is not, the Court will construe the statute in such a way so as to not render the statute unconstitutional. ("In the case of a statute susceptible of two constructions, neither inherently unreasonable by reference to the words, we must read it so as to uphold it where one possible construction would render it unconstitutional"). *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. State*, 578 So.2d 644, 652 (Miss.1991) *see also, Robinson v. State*, 143 Miss. 247, 256, 108 So. 903, 904 (1926). As such, this Court must not give 15-1-36(15) the reading urged by the Defendants that would render the statute unconstitutional. Without such an interpretation, the Plaintiffs' complaint in *Tolliver I*, consistent with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, must be considered to have been duly filed. Because the Plaintiffs' Complaint in *Tolliver I* was duly filed, the Plaintiffs have satisfied that prerequisite of the savings statute.

III. "Good Faith"

The Defendants have pointed out to this Court that "good faith" in the filing of a complaint

by a plaintiff is an element in determining the right to invoke the savings statute. (Appellant's Brief at 18, 19). Boldly, the Defendants argue to this Court that the Plaintiffs do not meet this element. Describing "good faith" in the context of the savings statute, this Court stated in *Hawkins*, quoting the Supreme Court of the United States in *Smith v. McNeal*, 109 U. S. 426, 3 Sup. Ct. 319, 27 L. Ed. 986, that

Cases might be supposed, perhaps, where the want of jurisdiction in the court was so clear that the bringing of a suit therein would show such gross negligence and indifference as to cut the party off from the benefit of the saving statute, as if an action of ejectment should be brought in a court of admiralty, or a bill in equity should be filed before a justice of the peace.

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